
- 69 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Meeting 
Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 11 February 2025 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 

 
D Ashby 
J Avery 
A C Beal 

N Chapman 
M Geaney 
R A Gibson 
 

J Whitbourn 
 

  
In Attendance: The Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community Leadership, the 
Assistant Director – Housing, the Business Intelligence and Change Manager, the 
Housing Transformation Officer (HRA), the Climate Change and Environment 
Manager virtual, the Sustainable Development Officer virtual, the Healthy Living 
Strategic Lead, the Communities Team Leader and the Democratic Services Officer.  
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors S Chauhan, 
L J Eldridge, A Harrison, M Hasan, J L Reynolds, J Le Sage, M Le Sage, T Sneath 
and the Assistant Director – Regulatory.   

 
 Action By 

68. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were none.  

   

69. MINUTES   

  

 That the minutes of the meeting on 26 November 2024 by signed 
by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 
Members agreed that there was no requirement to discuss the 
content of the exempt minutes from the meeting of Policy 
Development Panel on 26 November 2024, included later in the 
agenda. 

 

   

70. ACTIONS   

  

 Consideration was given to the update on actions which arose at 
the 26 November 2024 meeting and the tracking of outstanding 
actions.  
 

• Members commented that it would be useful to have an 
indication of the timescale of a response for Action 59. 

 
AGREED: 
 

 



- 70 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

That the update to actions be noted. 
   

71. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none.  

   

72. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none.  

   

73. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

74. KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 3 
February 2025. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

 

   

75. SHDC POLICY REGISTER AND S&ELCP POLICY REGISTER   

  

 Consideration was given to the SHDC Policy Register and the 
S&ELCP Policy Register. 
 
The Business Intelligence and Change Manager introduced the 
report and stated that: 

• Most of the policies that were yellow on the register were 
financial policies that related to the budget process. 

• The Gambling Act Policy had been approved at Full 
Council in January 2025 and would be moved to the end of 
the policy register. 

• An online policy register was being worked on to make 
policies more accessible.  

 
Members considered the report and raised no comments. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the SHDC Policy Register, and the S&ELCP Policy Register 
be noted. 

 

   

76. TENANT ENGAGEMENT AND INFLUENCE   

  



- 71 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 
Housing which outlined the draft Tenant and Influence 
Engagement Strategy 2025-2027. 
 
The Housing Transformation Officer (HRA) provided a 
presentation covering the key points of the strategy. 
 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• Members thanked the team for their work and were 
pleased with the number of responses to the consultation. 

o The Housing Transformation Officer (HRA) 
commented that it was the highest response that the 
company running the consultation (TPAS) had ever 
had from a Council and they had written a blog 
about it.  

 

• Members queried why the tenant engagement session 
(Meet the Managers) was being held in Sutton Bridge 

o The Housing Transformation Officer (HRA) 
responded that Sutton Bridge was recognised as an 
area that needed to be focussed on as part of the 
Equality Impact Assessment for the service. 

o The sessions would be rolled out to other areas of 
the district in the future.  
 

• Members wished to see a review of the performance of the 
policy twelve months after Cabinet approval.  

 
AGREED: 
 

1. That the Panel recommends the Tenant Engagement and 
Influence Strategy to Cabinet for adoption. 

 
2. That the Panel supports the recommendation to Cabinet to 

delegate minor operational amendments to the Assistant 
Director – Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic and Operational Housing. 
 

3. That a progress update of the Tenant Engagement and 
Influence Strategy 2025-2027 be presented to the Policy 
Development Panel one year from adoption at Cabinet. 

 

   

77. HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY UPDATE   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 
Housing which provided an update on the performance and 

 



- 72 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

effectiveness of the Housing Allocations Policy following its last 
formal review. 
 
The Assistant Director – Housing introduced the report and stated 
that: 

• The report provided a twelve-month update on changes 
approved to the policy in 2024. 

• As part of the update, no further changes were 
recommended but minor administrative changes that had 
been made were outlined within the report. 

• The policy was working well and was operationally 
effective.  

 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• Members commented that the fact that no changes were 
recommended suggested that the policy was fit for 
purpose.  
 

• Members queried whether there was a degree of discretion 
where transferees would be placed within a higher band if 
they had extenuating circumstances. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing confirmed that this 
was the case. The previous policy had automatically 
placed transferees into band 2, placing them above 
existing South Holland tenants. 

 

• Members asked if transferees were overcrowded in their 
current property would they be place in a lower band. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing commented that 
tenants had the option to complete a mutual 
exchange. As part of the policy, there was a strict 
local connection criteria which made the policy fair 
to all applicants. 
 

• Members commented that they would expect band 1 to 
only contain the most urgent and severe cases. They 
queried whether the number currently in that band was 
what would be expected. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing confirmed that the 
number in that band would be as he would expect. 
He clarified that band 1 concerned a narrow set of 
circumstances and did include those who had very 
specific property needs to ensure that they had 
priority when a suitable property became available, 
potentially sitting in the band for some time. 

 



- 73 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

• Members asked whether band 1 could include people who 
were currently under occupying a property and were 
waiting for a smaller property. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing stated that a 
priority level would not be given solely based on 
over or under occupation. 

o He explained that band 1 was specific for those the 
Council had a statutory duty to assist, such as with 
statutory overcrowding. 

o In cases of medical welfare, only exceptional 
circumstances where a specific adaptation was 
required would be placed in band 1. 

o Those placed in band 1 were usually rehoused 
quicker but the policy ensured the best use of 
housing stock. 
 

• Members queried whether rough sleepers would 
automatically be placed into band 1. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing commented that 
provisions for rough sleepers were separate to 
those on the housing register. If those people were 
working with the Council and were on the register, 
they would usually be placed in band 3, only going 
into band 1 is there was exceptional circumstances. 

o The Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 
Leadership stated that there was a distinction to be 
made between those that were homeless and those 
who were rough sleepers. 

▪ There was a number of rough sleepers within 
the district who had no recourse to public 
funding and therefore would never be eligible 
to join the housing register. 

▪ South Holland was part of a contract for 
Change4Lincs which provided repeat 
engagement with rough sleepers to build a 
rapport in order to get them to a stage where 
they could be accepted on to the housing 
register.  

o It was confirmed that single persons with no 
exceptional circumstances would be placed in band 
4 and that there was a low number of one bedroom 
properties within the district. 
 

• Members asked how a resident wanting a smaller property 
could join the register and whether the department 
regularly reviewed occupation levels within properties. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing commented that a 
review of the underoccupancy offer was a project 



- 74 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

that had been identified as part of the HRA 
transformation programme. 

o He confirmed that lifetime tenancies were offered to 
tenants and therefore when circumstances changed 
there was no automatic requirement for tenants to 
move.   
 

• Members queried whether any work was being done to 
proactively encourage tenants to move to smaller 
properties. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing stated that a piece 
of work relating to underoccupancy was being 
looked as part of the HRA transformation 
programme but other pieces of work had taken 
priority. 
 

• Members asked why members of the Armed Forces were 
automatically placed in band 4, given that many of these 
people could have additional needs. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing commented that 
although members of the Armed Forces were 
automatically placed in band 4, they would be 
assessed against other criteria within the policy to 
be placed in the correct band. It was important to 
note that individual circumstances always informed 
the banding decision. 

 

• Members asked whether the needs of those already on the 
housing register were ever reassessed after a period of 
time. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing confirmed that an 
assessment was made at the time of registering and 
again when a property offer was made to them.  

o He also confirmed that the team would send a letter 
to those on the register after a year to confirm if they 
still wanted to remain on the register. 
 

• Members queried whether there was anything within the 
new Tenant Engagement and Influence Strategy, 
discussed at the previous agenda item, to ask whether 
tenants were happy with the property they were currently 
in. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing stated that the 
purpose of the Strategy was to put tenants at the 
heart of Landlord Services decisions.  

o He commented that there could potentially be a 
focus group for underoccupancy as part of this work 
and recommendations could be sought from that 



- 75 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

focus group.  
 
AGREED: 
 

1. That the Panel noted the update on the performance and 
effectiveness of the policy changes. 

 
2. That the Panel continue to support a delegation to the 

Assistant Director – Housing in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing for 
minor operational amendments to the policy. 

   

78. CARBON REDUCTION PLAN FOR SOUTH HOLLAND 
DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 
Regulatory which updated elected members and officers on the 
contents of the Carbon Reduction Plan and the associated 
recommendations. 
 
The Group Manager - Climate Change and Environment and the 
Sustainable Development Officer introduced the report and stated 
that:  

• 78% of carbon emissions within South Holland came from 
the housing stock and taking that away brought South 
Holland into line with Boston and East Lindsey. 

• The overarching document presented was in draft form and 
the focus was for the Panel to choose a net zero pathway. 

• Key areas included within the plan were fleet vehicles, 
council owned buildings, solar panel feasibility for council 
owned buildings and energy saving behaviours amongst 
council staff.  

• The plan didn’t commit the council to any financial 
commitments. 

• The report outlined three options for the Panel to choose 
from. 

 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• Members commented that with the upcoming Local 
Government Reorganisation it seemed unrealistic to look at 
targets. 

o The Sustainable Development Officer stated that 
upcoming LGR shouldn’t prevent the Council from 
planning for the future and by having a plan in place, 
South Holland could influence other Councils.  
 

 



- 76 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

• Members asked whether the plan would assist in stopping 
solar farms being placed on agricultural land. 

o The Sustainable Development Officer confirmed that 
an aim of the plan was to look at the placement of 
solar panels on Council owned buildings. 

o The Group Manager - Climate Change and 
Environment added that the next step would be to 
produce a detailed action plan of how to deliver this 
and influence corporate activity. 

o She stated that the housing stock lent itself to easily 
reducing carbon emissions as retrofit work was 
taking place to properties to increase their EPC 
ratings. 
 

• Members queried whether the Council did enough to 
encourage recycling within the office spaces. 

o The Sustainable Development Officer responded 
that it was an important part of the plan to 
encourage a changing of behaviours among council 
staff. 

o He added that the Sustainable Products Policy was 
already in place with the aim of reducing single 
waste plastics. 
 

• Members questioned whether the Council could install 
more combined recycling and general waste bins. 

o The Sustainable Development Officer commented 
that nothing should be ruled out. A feasibility study 
would need to be carried out to determine whether 
this was practical and any financial implications.  
 

• Members asked whether the simplest thing to do for the 
housing stock would be to put solar panels on all roofs. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing commented that 
the Council was awaiting the outcome of a bid worth 
£18m to complete efficiency works on properties 
that currently had an EPC D rating.  

o He also commented that to put solar panels on 
every property would be extremely expensive. There 
were many other options, such as new windows and 
external wall insulation, that should also be 
considered.  

o The Group Manager - Climate Change and 
Environment stated that this sort of idea was 
unviable at this point in time and policies weren’t in 
place at a national level to enable this. 
 

• Members queried why solar panels couldn’t be insisted on 



- 77 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

through planning conditions. 
o The Sustainable Development Officer explained that 

approval was required from the National Grid for 
every solar panel in order to plug it into the grid. 

 

• Members asked how far the Council could go to identify 
properties where the grid would be able to accept extra 
solar panels.  

o The Group Manager - Climate Change and 
Environment stated that other grants were available 
for privately owned housing.    
  

• Members queried how many properties within the housing 
stock were included within the next round of energy 
efficiency improvements. 

o The Assistant Director – Housing commented that 
980 properties were included within the next round, 
and these were predominantly EPC D rated 
properties. Fifty percent of this work was externally 
funded, and the Council had match funded this.  

o He confirmed that each property had its own 
individual requirements so one type of improvement 
would not fit all.  

o Earlier schemes focused on E, F and G rated 
properties and had included lots of external wall 
insulation as an appropriate measure.  

 

• Members commented that they would prefer that energy 
efficiency improvements to housing stock be funded 
externally. 
 

• Members asked for examples of private sector funding. 
o The Group Manager - Climate Change and 

Environment commented that private sector funding 
was still a work in progress and that this was a very 
new concept currently being trialled in cities.  
 

• Members wished to see more recycling within the council 
offices. 
 

• Members asked what the cost difference was between 
options one and two. 

o The Group Manager - Climate Change and 
Environment responded that the cost difference was 
minimal, the difference was the pace of work. 
Technological advancements may become cheaper 
over time which would reduce the cost.  

o She stated that every project was subject to a 



- 78 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

business case coming forward. 
 
AGREED: 
 

1. That the Panel recognises the information and 
recommendations as set out in the Carbon Reduction Plan 
in line with the council’s commitment to help both mitigate 
and adapt to the impacts of Climate Change, improve its 
own environmental performance and encourages external 
funding/inward investment with recycling encouraged in all 
Council buildings.  

 
2. That the Panel recommends to Cabinet that the Carbon 

Reduction Plan be adopted. 
 

3. That the Panel recommends Option 2 (as set out in section 4 of 
the report) for SHDC’s Net Zero Ambition to Cabinet 
accordingly. 

   

79. SOUTH & EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP'S 
HEALTHY LIVING BOARD  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 
Wellbeing and Community Leadership which provided an update 
on South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership’s Healthy 
Living Board and recommendations from SELCP’s joint scrutiny 
review of Health & Wellbeing across the subregion. 
 
The Healthy Living Strategic Lead introduced the report and 
stated that:  

• A Joint Scrutiny report had been presented in April 2024 
and the report provided an update on local work and 
opportunities coming out of the Healthy Living Board.  

• Highlighted the shift to a prevention focus which helps 
residents to live longer and reduces demands on services. 

• The Healthy Living Board provided a strategic oversight of 
work across the districts.  
 

Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 

• Members commented that this was an important piece of 
work and they were pleased with the work that had taken 
place.  
 

• Members asked whether sheltered housing tenants were 
included as part of the work undertaken by the board. 

o The Healthy Living Strategic Lead stated that this 
was part of the work of the Independent Living 

 



- 79 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

Team but that the board did work with them on 
digital inclusion and the age friendly network. 
 

• Members queried how activities in village halls catered 
towards the elderly were tracked.  

o The Healthy Living Strategic Lead responded that 
Active Lincolnshire keep a record of different 
activities, but this relies on organisers letting them 
know to add it to their database.  
 

• Members asked how residents could be encouraged to put 
on more events. 

o The Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 
Leadership clarified that this was a discretionary 
service and the Board’s work was about raising 
awareness of what is already available in 
communities.  

o The Communities Team could support and offer 
advice to those wanting to organise events but there 
wasn’t available resource for the Council to organise 
more events.  

o The Healthy Living Strategic Lead commented that 
the Joint Scrutiny task group included a 
recommendation to work with Active Lincolnshire to 
build a legacy where funding had previously been 
provided for a particular activity which assists in 
creating community capacity to organise activities 
themselves.  
 

• Members asked whether the Board had been involved in 
producing the wellbeing maps for Crowland and Holbeach. 

o The Healthy Living Strategic Lead confirmed that 
this fell within the remit of the Board. 

o The NHS had funded community co-ordinators to 
promote wellbeing activities in an area. 
 

• Members advised that the Citizens Advice Bureau offices 
in Holbeach needed to be added to the wellbeing map. 

 

• Members commented that the wellbeing maps should be 
reviewed annually to ensure they were kept up to date. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Panel notes the remit and purpose of the Healthy Living 
Board, the update on local partnership work and response to the 
joint scrutiny recommendations. 

   



- 80 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

80. FINAL REPORT OF THE BUSINESS FRONTAGE TASK 
GROUP  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Business Frontage 
Task Group which presented their final report. 
 
The Chairman of the Task Group and Lead Officer introduced the 
report and stated that:  

• The aim of the task group was to explore ways to reduce 
vinyl coverings from shop windows. 

• The report outlined a number of recommendations to the 
Cabinet, in particular the development of a design guide 
that would support Planning with any applications that 
came forward in the future.   

 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• Members thanked the Lead Officer for her work throughout 
the duration of the task group.  
 

• Members noted that the recommendations applied to the 
whole district and a design guide would assist with polite 
engagement with shops going forward.  

 

• Members commented that recommendation 5 of the final 
report would assist in encouraging newly developed shops 
to not place vinyl coverings on their windows.  

 

• Members enquired whether specific shops within Spalding 
town centre had been engaged with. 

 

• Members felt it was important that any design guide 
developed was not so stringent that it discouraged 
potential new businesses from opening within the district.   

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Final Report of the Business Frontage Task Group be 
approved prior to its consideration by the Cabinet. 

 

   

81. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 
Governance (Monitoring Officer) which set out the work 
programme of the Policy Development Panel. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer introduced the report which 

 



- 81 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 11 
February 2025 

 

 

included the following:  

• Appendix 1 outlined meeting dates and respective 
scheduled items; 

• Appendix 2 outlined current and pending task groups. 
 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• A suggestion had been made to set up a task group to look 
at the governance aspect of devolution. 

o The Chairman commented that this was not 
something that the Policy Development Panel could 
influence.  

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Policy Development Panel work programme be noted. 

   

82. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 9.15 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 


